
SOLIHULL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL

Wednesday, 27 January 2016 at 6.00 pm

Civic Suite, Solihull

Crime and Disorder Scrutiny 
Panel 

Public Document Pack



Disclosing Pecuniary Interests - What Must You Do?

 (a) You must complete a declaration of your disclosable pecuniary interests, including those of 
your spouse/civil partner (or someone with whom you are living as such) and send it to the 
Monitoring Officer within 28 days of your election or appointment to the Council.

(b) When you attend a meeting of the Council, Cabinet, Scrutiny Board, Committee, Sub-
Committee or Joint Committee etc, and a matter arises in which you have a disclosable pecuniary 
interest, unless you have been granted a dispensation, you must:

 Declare the interest if you have not already registered it

 Not participate in any discussion or vote

 Leave the meeting room until the matter has been dealt with

 Give written notice of any unregistered interest to the Monitoring Officer within 28 days of 
the meeting

(c) If you are the Leader or a Cabinet Portfolio Holder you may not exercise any of your 
delegated powers as a single member in relation to a matter in which you have a disclosable 
pecuniary interest or take any other step except to give written notice of any unregistered interest 
to the Monitoring Officer within 28 days of your becoming aware of the interest, or arrange for 
another person or body to deal with the matter.

Disclosable Interest Description

Employment, office, 
trade, profession or
vocation

Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for profit or gain by you 
or your partner.

Sponsorship Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than from the Council) 
made or provided within 12 months of your declaration of interests in respect of any 
expenses incurred by you in carrying out duties as a member, or towards your election 
expenses.

Contracts Any contract between you or your partner (or a firm or body corporate in which you or 
your partner is a partner or a director, or in the securities of which you or your partner 
has a beneficial interest)) and the Council 
(a) under which goods or services are to be provided or works are to be executed; and
(b) which has not been fully discharged.

Land Any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of the Council and which gives you 
or your partner a right to occupy the land or receive income.

Licences Any licence held by you or your partner (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in the 
area of the Council for a month or longer.

Corporate tenancies Any tenancy where (to your knowledge)—
(a) the landlord is the Council; and
(b) the tenant is a body in which you or your partner has a beneficial interest i.e. a firm or 
body corporate in which you or your partner is a partner or a director, or in the securities 
of which you or your partner has a beneficial interest.

Securities Any beneficial interest held by you or your partner in securities of a body where—

(a) that body (to your knowledge) has a place of business or land in the area of the 
Council; and
(b) either—

(i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one hundredth of 
the total issued share capital of that body; or

(ii) if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total nominal 
value of the shares of any one class in which you or your partner has a 
beneficial interest exceeds one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that 
class.

“securities” means shares, debentures, debenture stock, loan stock, bonds, units of a 
collective investment scheme within the meaning of the Financial Services and Markets 
Act 2000 and other securities of any description, other than money deposited with a 
building society.



SOLIHULL METROPOLITAN 
BOROUGH COUNCIL

To:
Councillors Mrs D Holl-Allen MBE, 
A Mackenzie, B Holmes, T Hodgson and 
I Chamberlain

NICK PAGE
CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Council House, Manor Square
Solihull, West Midlands. B91 3QB
Tel. 0121-704 6000 

Democratic Services
Tel: 0121 704 6050
Email: jbright@solihull.gov.uk

Date Tuesday, 19 January 2016

CRIME AND DISORDER SCRUTINY PANEL - Wednesday, 27 January 2016

AGENDA

1. APOLOGIES AND SUBSTITUTIONS 

To receive notification of apologies and substitutions from Members.

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

To receive notification of any declarations of pecuniary and/or conflict of interest 
from Members.

3. QUESTIONS AND DEPUTATIONS 

To answer questions and hear deputations, if any, asked by any resident of the 
Borough pursuant to Standing Orders.

4. MINUTES (Pages 5 - 8)

Minutes of the Crime and Disorder Scrutiny Panel meeting held on 21st October 
2015.

5. REVIEW OF THE MINISTRY OF JUSTICE TRANSFORMING 
REHABILITATION PROGRAMME (Pages 9 - 12)

This report is to inform the Scrutiny Panel of developments in the Community 
Rehabilitation Company (CRC) since the inception of the Transforming 
Rehabilitation agenda.

6. SAFER SOLIHULL PARTNERSHIP - 2015/16 QUARTER 3 PERFORMANCE 



FOR THE PERIOD OCTOBER 2015 TO DECEMBER 2015 (Pages 13 - 30)

To provide the Crime and Disorder Scrutiny Panel with the opportunity to review 
performance for Quarter 3 2015/16 for the Safer Solihull Local Police and Crime 
Board performance measures.

7. COMMUNITY SAFETY PLAN REPORT (Pages 31 - 46)

The annual report is presented to the crime and disorder panel and the safer 
Solihull partnership each year together with the revised annual strategic 
assessment to enable the board and panel to review the progress made over 
the last twelve months and to seek their views on the priorities for the coming 
year

8. UPDATE ON THE ASB, CRIME AND POLICING ACT 2014 (Pages 47 - 56)

To provide an update to the Crime and Disorder Scrutiny Panel on the changes 
that were introduced in October 2014 around the Anti-Social Behaviour (ASB), 
Crime and Policing Act 2014.  



CRIME AND DISORDER SCRUTINY PANEL – 21 OCTOBER 2015

CRIME AND DISORDER SCRUTINY PANEL

21 OCTOBER 2015

MINUTES 
Present Councillors Mrs D Holl-Allen MBE (Chairman), A Mackenzie, B 

Holmes, T Hodgson and I Chamberlain
Apologies:
There were no apologies
Officers in attendance: 
Joseph Bright (Solihull MBC, Resources Directorate).
Report authors/witnesses in attendance: 
Gillian Crabbe (Community Safety Manager – Solihull MBC, Managed Growth 
Directorate).
Julia Haywood (Community Safety Officer – Solihull MBC, Managed Growth 
Directorate).
External report authors/witnesses in attendance:
Chief Superintendent Alex Murray (West Midlands Police).
Cabinet Members in attendance as observers:
Councillor K Grinsell (Stronger Communities & Partnerships Portfolio).

1. DECLARATIONS OF PECUNIARY INTEREST AND CONFLICT OF INTEREST
There were no declarations of interest declared by Members of the Panel.

2. QUESTIONS AND DEPUTATIONS
There were no questions or deputations.

3. MINUTES
The minutes of the meeting held on 21st October were submitted for approval.

 RESOLVED
That the minutes be agreed as a correct record. There were no 
matters arising.

4. WEST MIDLANDS POLICE – NEIGHBOURHOOD POLICING REVIEW
In attendance: Chief Superintendent Alex Murray (West Midlands Police).
The Chief Superintendent provided a verbal update on the review of neighbourhood policing 
as part of the West Midlands Police WMP2020 change programme. He detailed how, as part 
of the change programme, West Midlands Police were focusing on how to ensure a 
sustainable service, whilst managing budget cuts. The Chief Superintendent explained that 
West Midlands Police had been advised they would be receiving a 20 percent budget 
reduction between now and 2020 – overall, this would mean a budget cut of nearly 45 
percent over a period of ten years. It was explained this meant West Midlands Police would 
need to operate with a reduction of more than 2,500 officer and staff posts.

Page 5

Agenda Item 4



CRIME AND DISORDER SCRUTINY PANEL – 21 OCTOBER 2015

The Chief Superintendent informed Members that West Midlands Police was particularly 
impacted due to the precept model – they raised one of the lowest levels of revenue through 
Council Tax. As a consequence, West Midlands Police was more reliant upon central 
government funding and therefore severely impacted by the reductions. 
The Chief Superintendent explained that, in the face of severe reductions, they were looking 
not to ‘salami slice’ services and the West Midlands Police 2020 programme had been 
established to identify innovative solutions. He detailed how the current levels of 
Neighbourhood Policing were not sustainable and the service would need to focus more on 
essential services. The Chief Superintendent emphasised the Service recognised they still 
needed to take account of community concerns; however he stressed they also needed to 
focus on critical areas that may not be visible to the public, such as domestic violence and 
child sexual exploitation. 
The Chief Superintendent also emphasised the Chief Constable recognised the importance 
of having Neighbourhood Police Officers in designated areas; however he explained a 
greater number of Officers would be allocated to higher demand areas. He also provided as 
an example that, in regards to Schools, the Police would focus on Pupil Referral Units and 
the major Secondary Schools, rather than visiting and building relations with all of them. 
It was also noted that, as part of the WMP 2020 programme, there was an emphasis upon 
effective partnership working with communities, via key programmes such as Neighbourhood 
Watch and Street Watch. The Chief Superintendent explained they would focus upon 
mobilising the local community, whereby they helped empower people, allowing the Police to 
focus on critical areas. 

RESOLVED
That the verbal update be received and noted.

5. DRUG AND ALCOHOL TREATMENT SERVICES CONTRACT
The Commissioner for Substance Misuse presented the report, explaining how they 
commissioned a partnership of organisations known as SIAS (Solihull Integrated Addiction 
Service) to provide treatment for drug and alcohol additions. She detailed how these 
services were led by Birmingham and Solihull Foundation Trust with Solihull MBC. The 
Commissioner also emphasised they were clear with service users and their families that, 
whilst there were various providers, there was one service that met all their needs.
The Commissioner detailed how the current contract was awarded in April 2014 for 3 years, 
with an option to extend for a further 2. She also explained how the commissioning of these 
services was overseen by a multi-agency group, the Drug and Alcohol Joint Commissioning 
Group (DAJCG) – it was noted a review of the service was scheduled in October.
The Commissioner explained how an agreed performance management framework was 
monitored by DAJCG, which consisted of a number of key performance indicators – it was 
noted 4 of these indicators related to the Community Safety Plan and was included in the 
Community Safety Partnership scorecard. The Commissioner identified the relevant 
indicators as follows:
Numbers in effective treatment – all drug users
The Commissioner highlighted this indicator was below the minimum performance standard. 
She explained how the providers were putting together an action plan to address this, with a 
particular emphasis upon raising awareness of the treatment services available amongst 
drug users and their families. However, the Commissioner did also emphasize the evidence 
demonstrated that, once drug users engaged in treatment, the quality of intervention was 
good. 
Number of users of opiates and/or crack cocaine recorded as being in effective treatment
The Commissioner detailed how this indicator was above the minimum performance 
standard – it was noted that 411 out of 740 known opiate and/or crack cocaine users across 

Page 6



CRIME AND DISORDER SCRUTINY PANEL – 21 OCTOBER 2015

the Borough were engaged in treatment, which indicated a very good engagement rate, 
especially compared to other areas across the West Midlands. The Commissioner explained 
the volume of opiates and/or crack cocaine users were declining and this indicated treatment 
services needed to focus on other drug users
The Number of alcohol clients in contact with treatment in the last 12 months
The Commissioner highlighted this indicator was below the minimum performance standard. 
She explained how an action plan had been developed that focused on identification and 
engagement of residents drinking at hazardous and harmful levels. It was noted this plan 
placed particular emphasis upon raising awareness of services via social media, as well as 
greater partnership working with GP practices.
Members noted the Commissioners observation that opiate and/or crack cocaine use was 
declining – they queried whether this was correct, especially amongst young people. The 
Commissioner explained there was a significant drop in use of these drugs, especially 
amongst young people – she emphasised the issue here was use of legal highs and 
cannabis. She noted that young people may have a high level of awareness regarding 
opiates/crack cocaine, but they were not users. 
The Commissioner explained that treatment services needed to focus to a greater extent 
upon legal highs, as use of this amongst young people was rising – it was noted they 
needed to identify types of intervention to prevent use. Members emphasised the need to 
raise awareness of the issue of legal highs – the Commissioner explained she agreed with 
this and noted awareness was a particular problems with these drugs, as they were 
constantly changing. She explained how they would look to raise awareness of this issue 
amongst Teachers and Governors, as well as work and share intelligence with different 
partners, such as the Police and Trading Standards.
Members highlighted alcohol abuse and queried whether an issue here was access, due to 
low prices. The Commissioner agreed having minimum unit prices would have an impact 
upon consumption and explained Public Health England was currently collating evidence 
regarding this.

RESOLVED
That the update be received and noted.

6. SAFER SOLIHULL PARTNERSHIP
The Community Safety Manager presented the Safer Solihull Performance Scorecard for 
Quarter 2. She detailed how, previously, there had been some seasonal variance in crime 
rates, whereby incidents of anti-social-behaviour had typically risen – the Partnership had 
focused upon this, which had led to 30 percent reduction in reported levels.
The Community Safety Manager detailed how the indicator for victim satisfaction had 
declined and had been attributed red RAG status. She explained this may be attributable to 
victims’ expectations as to what measures the Police/Partner organisations could undertake 
to address their concerns. The Community Safety Manager provided the example that 
tenants may expect problem neighbours to be evicted – this may not be an option; however 
she emphasised the Police/Partners would still look to undertake action to address any 
antisocial behaviour.

RESOLVED
That the Safer Solihull Performance Scorecard for Quarter 2 be 
noted.

7. SAFER SOLIHULL PARTNERSHIP ANNUAL STRATEGIC ASSESSMENT & 
COMMUNITY SAFETY PLAN
The Community Safety Manager presented the report, where she detailed the Safer Solihull 
Partnership’s Strategic Assessment and its priorities for the partnership for 2016/17. 

Page 7



CRIME AND DISORDER SCRUTINY PANEL – 21 OCTOBER 2015

The Members emphasised they agreed with the recommendations as per section 5 of the 
report, which included that the two partnership plus areas, Chelmsley Town and Smiths 
Town Centres should remain the focus for partnership activity together with Solihull and 
Shirley Town Centres. Members also stressed that, in relation to Solihull Town Centre, 
people needed quick and easy access to taxis when they left pubs and clubs, in order to 
help mitigate against anti-social behaviour. The Community Safety Manager explained she 
agreed and detailed how this issue had been looked at by the relevant Partners.

RESOLVED
The Crime and Disorder Scrutiny Panel:
(i) Endorsed the Safer Solihull Partnership Annual Strategic Assessment & 

Community Safety Plan.
(ii) Endorsed the recommendations as per Section 5 of this report; and
(iii) Endorsed the recommendation that, following this review of crime and 

disorder, the current priorities remain for 2016/17

Page 8



 THE STAFFORDSHIRE & WEST MIDLANDS COMMUNITY 
REHABILITATION COMPANY LIMITED

WEDNESDAY 26 JANUARY 2016

REPORT OF HEAD OF SOLIHULL COMMUNITY REHABILITATION 
COMPANY

Review of the ministry of justice transforming rehabilitation programme 
and its implementation throughout 2015 and beyond.

1. PURPOSE OF THE REPORT

This report is to inform the Scrutiny Panel of developments in the Community 
Rehabilitation Company (CRC) since the inception of the Transforming 
Rehabilitation agenda.

2. ATTACHMENTS 

There are no attachments with this report although the CRC’s operating model, Our 
Plan to Change Lives, is available for members of the panel as is a document 
entitled In Partnership (Changing Lives Together).

3. BACKGROUND AND ANALYSIS

A

B

C

On 9th May 2013, the government announced its aim to “transform the way we 
manage offenders in the community to achieve a reduction in the rate of re-offending 
whilst continuing to protect the public”. This means that in the near future, the 
majority of offender services will be delivered by a range of contracted private and 
voluntary organisations. 

Staffordshire and West Midlands Probation Trust came to an end on the 31st of May, 
with staff transferring to either the new public sector National Probation Service 
(NPS) cluster of Warwickshire, Coventry and Solihull, or the new Staffordshire & 
West Midlands Community Rehabilitation Company (CRC) cluster of Coventry and 
Solihull.  The SWM CRC remained under contract to the National Offender 
Management Service until share sale took place on 1st February 2015). From that 
point on, SWM CRC has been owned by RRP (Reducing Reoffending Partnership), 
a partnership of Ingeus, CRI and St Giles’ Trust.

The key aspects of the Coalition’s Transforming Rehabilitation reforms are:
 A new public sector National Probation Service has been created.
 Every offender released from custody will, in due course, receive statutory 

supervision and rehabilitation in the community.  
 Legislation will extend this statutory supervision and rehabilitation to all 

50,000 of the most prolific group of offenders – those sentenced to less than 
12 months in custody. Currently, these offenders have no statutory 
involvement with the probation service.

 A nationwide ‘through the prison gate’ resettlement service will be put in 
place, meaning most offenders are given continuous support by one provider 
from custody into the community.  The prison service is to re-organise the 
prison system so that most offenders are held in a prison designated to their 
area for at least three months before release (a resettlement prison). 

 The market will be opened up to a diverse range of rehabilitation providers in Page 9

Agenda Item 5



D

E

F

G

H

I

the voluntary and private sectors, at the local as well as national level. 
 New payment incentives for market providers will be introduced, giving 

providers freedom from bureaucracy and flexibility to do what works, but only 
paying them in full for significant reductions in reoffending. 

The National Probation Service

Sarah Chand is the Deputy Director for the Midlands region, which is one of six 
regions in England.  As I understand it, Deputy Directors will not have any 
commissioning or contract management responsibilities. Funding for interventions 
for offenders in the NPS will be held centrally and interventions for that group of 
offenders will almost certainly be commissioned nationally. 

The National Probation Service is responsible for:
 initial assessment of all cases
 all court work (including reports and breach work)
 recalls
 parole reports
 cases assessed as presenting a high or very high risk of harm
 all MAPPA cases 
 Approved Premises
 victim liaison work

The Community Rehabilitation Company

The Chief Executive of the SWM Community Rehabilitation Company (CRC) is 
Catherine Holland. 

The Community Rehabilitation Company is responsible for:
 the supervision of all cases assessed to present a low risk of harm or medium 

risk of harm
 delivery of Community Payback
 delivery of accredited programmes (group work with offenders except for sex 

offenders)
 delivery of other interventions e.g. Employment, Training and Education 

support and services; non-accredited groupwork programmes; and a range of 
interventions addressing issues such as finance, accommodation and 
substance misuse issues

 Integrated Offender Management (IOM)
 From 1st May 2015, the CRC has been responsible for the delivery of new 

Resettlement Services to all prisoners in the 3 months prior to release and 
‘through the gate’. This service will supplement the new responsibilities (from 
1st February 2015) to supervise offenders on release from sentences of less 
than 12 months.

In October 2014, The Reducing Reoffending Partnership was announced as the 
preferred bidder for the Staffordshire and West Midlands CRC.  This partnership 
between Ingeus, St Giles Trust and Crime Reduction Initiatives was also successful 
in securing preferred bidder status for the Derbyshire, Leicestershire, 
Nottinghamshire and Rutland CRC.

Ingeus UK is a leading provider of employment and training, including the 
government’s Work Programme amongst other employability services.  The 
company works alongside one hundred partner organisations from the public, 
private and voluntary sectors.

Page 10



J

K

L

M

N

St Giles Trust is a registered charity that aims to break the cycle of prison, crime and 
disadvantage and create safer communities by supporting people to change their 
lives.  Their services put offenders at the heart of the solution by training them to put 
their skills and experience to use in providing peer support and mentoring.  
Interestingly about a third of St Giles Trust’s staff are ex-offenders who now support 
others towards living independent lives, according to the following needs: 
Somewhere to live; Something to live for; Support from someone who has been 
there; Positive relationships.

Crime Reduction Initiatives (CRI) is a recovery oriented substance misuse service 
that works with service users to inspire them towards appreciating the benefits of 
abstinence for their health and wellbeing. CRI works from the basis of respect for 
user choice and so by being non-judgemental, will work with service users on longer 
term treatment journeys.

Further information:  http://www.justice.gov.uk/transforming-rehabilitation 

http://www.rrpartnership.com/

The contracts for the sale of the CRCs to RRP were signed on 18th December 2014 
and the transition date to new ownership was 1st February 2015. The contract is set 
to run for 7 years with a possible extension period of a further 3 years.

February 1st 2015 also coincided with the enactment of the Offender Rehabilitation 
Act and the implementation of the new provisions for supervision of short sentence 
prisoners whose offences are committed on or after this date. The CRC then had 
twelve weeks to put in place its provisions for the Through the Gate resettlement 
service. 

The work of the CRC under RRP’s ownership will be underpinned by a payment by 
results (PbR) framework which combines a ‘fee for service’ element with payments 
for results, increasing potentially over the life of the contract which are payable only 
if there are demonstrable and incremental reductions in reoffending by the offender 
cohorts supervised.  It was anticipated that the first cohort of offenders subject to the 
PbR arrangements would commence supervision in October 2015, with the first 
payments under PbR being made from late 2017. 

4,

A

IMPLEMENTING OUR PLAN TO CHANGE LIVES

The documents entitled Our Plan to Change Lives and In Partnership (Reducing 
Reoffending Together) provide information on the range of work undertaken since 
the adoption of the CRC into the RRP family.  Amongst many other things I would 
like to draw the panel’s attention to the commitment to:

 invest in technology and a working environment that is more conducive to the 
rehabilitation effort

 put service users at the heart of service delivery through use of peer Page 11

http://www.justice.gov.uk/transforming-rehabilitation
http://www.rrpartnership.com/


B

mentoring and volunteers
 provide a truly effective resettlement service that provides through the gate 

services and tackles the so called revolving door of addiction, reoffending and 
imprisonment

 use data collected through new assessment systems and interventions to 
contribute to investment decisions on what works 

SWM will retain a presence in the Borough although it will move from its current 
base behind the magistrate’s court during the course of the year.  The co-located 
Integrated Offender Management Unit at Chelmsley Wood police station will 
continue as now, however in line with our commitment to even closer partnership 
arrangements, we are seeking opportunities for shared delivery spaces and indeed 
other opportunities for co-location with partners.  This is on the basis that an even 
more joined up system for working with individuals with complex underlying needs is 
likely to be even more effective in improving outcomes for people in the Borough.

5. RECOMMENDATIONS

That the contents of the report be noted.

Kobina Hall, Asst Chief Officer
Head of Service, Coventry, Solihull and Community Payback
Staffs and West Midlands Community Rehabilitation Company

Page 12



SOLIHULL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL

Report to: Crime and disorder scrutiny panel 

Meeting date: 27th January 2016

Subject/Report Title: Safer Solihull Partnership, incorporating the Solihull Local Police 
and Crime Board

2015/16 Quarter 3 Performance for the period October 2015 to 
December 2015

Report from: Head of Neighbourhood Services

Report Author/Lead 
Contact Officer:

Gillian Crabbe - Community Safety Manager - 0121 704 8093

Wards affected:  All Wards

 Bickenhill  Blythe

 Castle Bromwich  Chelmsley Wood

 Dorridge/Hockley Heath  Elmdon

 Kingshurst/Fordbridge  Knowle

 Lyndon  Meriden

 Olton  Shirley East

 Shirley South  Shirley West

 Silhill  Smith's Wood

 St Alphege

Public/Private 
report:

Public

Exempt by virtue of 
Paragraph:

N/A

1. Purpose of Report

1.1 To provide the Crime and Disorder Scrutiny Panel with the opportunity to review 

performance for Quarter 3 2015/16 for the Safer Solihull Local Police and Crime 

Board performance measures. 

Page 13

Agenda Item 6



2. Decision(s) Recommended

2.1 To seek the Crime and Disorder Scrutiny Panel views upon the Performance 

outcomes of the Safer Solihull Local Police and Crime Board as presented.

2.2 The Crime and Disorder Scrutiny Panel is asked to support and provide any 

necessary comments to the Safer Solihull Local Police and Crime Board on its 

performance for the third quarter of the performance year 2015/16 and to make 

recommendations to the Board as appropriate.

3. Background

3.1 The performance outcomes for the quarter are detailed in the scorecard attached at 

Appendix A to this report and focuses on the Safer Solihull Partnership Local Police 

and Crime Board, four key priorities of: 

 Priority 1: Better protecting people from harm
We will prioritise our work to protect those most vulnerable from harm, focusing on 
those crimes that are often hidden such as domestic violence, child sexual exploitation 
and hate crime. We will work to increase confidence to report crime, supporting victims 
and bring offenders to justice.

 Priority 2: Bringing offenders to justice and tackle re-offending 
We will focus on those offenders who cause harm within their local area and those 
areas that are more susceptible to the traveling offender. We will focus on the links 
between offending and substance misuse, identifying and targeting persistent and high 
risk offenders.

 Priority 3: Supporting stronger communities
We will keep our communities informed about our work and listen to what matters most 
to them. We will test our understanding of the things that you tell are important and 
ensure that we respond. The top 4 for this year are: burglaries, reducing speeding 
traffic and inconsiderate parking, tackling drug and drug dealing and tackling Anti-
Social behaviour.

 Priority 4: Making our neighbourhoods safer places
We will continue to reduce crime ensuring that fewer people become victims. Working 
together to tackle Anti-social behaviour and improve the quality of life of those affected, 
we will focus our partnership work in places to change lives and build stronger 
communities.

Page 14



4. Overview

4.1 In the previous reported quarter of July, August and September there were 2914 

crimes recorded and this quarter of October, November and December there were 

3156.  This equates to 242 more victims of crime this quarter when compared to 

last quarter and 263 more victims compared to the same quarter in 2014.

4.2 The largest contributing Wards over this quarter have been St Alphege (301), 

Chelmsley Wood (286), Kingshurst & Fordbridge (266) and Shirley South (247).

4.3 Of these four Wards three were at increased levels during Q3. However Chelmsley 

Wood Ward saw reduced levels of crime October, November and December.  

There have been reductions seen on Chelmsley Wood Town Centre following 

additional security being put in at the ASDA store. This is seen as a positive 

because historically this Ward has always seen the highest levels of total recorded 

crime. 

4.4 The key contributing crime types this quarter have been Violent Crime  (398), Theft 

from Motor Vehicle (376), Criminal Damage (369), Theft from Shop or Stall (308) 

and Burglary Dwelling (259).  

4.5 Violent Crime has been at raised levels over the past three months which is 

seasonally expected. Theft from Motor Vehicle has been at increased levels since 

August 2015. Burglary Dwellings have been at significantly increased levels during 

November (119) and December (77) compared to the monthly average since 

February 2014 of 59 a month.  Whilst there is a seasonal expectation of increases 

in burglary dwelling there was a specific spike on the Silhill Ward (15 in November 

and 9 in December) which has reduced since the arrest of a person who had 

recently moved into the area.  There was also an increase in Car Key Criminality in 

the Knowle and Dorridge area and whilst this has also reduced this area of the 

Page 15



Borough remains at risk of this type of criminality. 

4.6 The control charts on the following pages show the fluctuations in crime across 

Solihull from April 2011 to December 2015 for total recorded crime, serious 

acquisitive crime, public place violence and business crime. They demonstrate that 

things like seasonality, and changes in the pattern in offending styles can either 

adversely or positively impact on the levels of crime that occurs. The partnership 

uses this information to prepare itself to respond and deploy resources.

4.7 Fig 1.1: Total Recorded Crime Control Chart

4.8 Total Recorded Crime has been over 1000 offences per month for the past three 

months.

4.9 It was predicted that there would be a spike in crime during the month of November 

and this is seasonally expected and Solihull Police concentrated resources on 

offender management as the Serious Acquisitive Crimes of robbery, vehicle crime 

and burglary, historically increases at this time of year but is not usually 

concentrated on specific locations.

4.10 Solely concentrating on offender management was not a successful tactic as the 

spike still occurred and geographic location management have now been re-

Page 16



introduced which has seen crime reduce over the past three weeks (as at Monday 4th 

January 2015) with officers being in the right locations at the right time resulting in 

arrests of people who were not necessarily on the radar of the integrated offender 

management process. 

4.11 The volume of recorded crime remains within the St Alphege key location and the 

Chelmsley Town Partnership Plus area (which includes parts of Chelmsley Wood, 

Kingshurst & Fordbridge and Bickenhill Wards).

4.12 Fig 1.2: Serious Acquisitve Crime (Burglary, Vehicle Crime and Robbery) 

Control Chart

4.13 The levels of Serious Acquisitive Crime were 240 in October 2015, 308 in 

November 2015 and 258 in December 2015 compared to 221 in July 2015, 236 in 

August 2015 and 243 in September 2015.

4.14 As detailed at 4.6 Burglary Dwellings has been at significantly increased levels 

during November and December.

4.15 Despite this increase Solihull LPU still has the lowest volume of burglary dwelling 

within the West Midlands Police area with an increase of 48 at the end of Quarter 3 

Page 17



of 2015/16 when compared to 2014/15.

4.16 Vehicle crime has been at increased levels since August 2015 and remains a key 

contributing crime type which impacts on the Borough’s ability to reduce total 

recorded crime.

4.17 Robbery levels increased in November and December and year to date there have 

been 60 more victims of robbery than the same period in 2014/15.

4.18 Fig 1.3: Public Place Violence with Injury Control Chart

4.19 The levels of public place violence with injury were at increased levels during this 

quarter with 176 crimes recorded.

4.20 The key contributing Wards during this quarter have been St Alphege (44 crimes 

recorded), Chelmsley Wood (21), Smiths’ Wood (19) and Kingshurst & Fordbridge 

(14).

4.21 There were 24 public place violence with injury recorded as domestic abuse this 

quarter and four recorded as hate crimes (three of the incidents the victim knew the 

offender).

4.22 57 of the public place violence with injury were recorded as alcohol involved (25 

within the St Alphege Ward); 28 were recorded as Under the Influence violence (11 

Page 18



within St Alphege Ward); 55 crimes were recorded as the victim knowing the 

offender. 19 of the crimes were recorded as Licensed Premises Violence (12 within 

St Alphege Ward).

4.23 Fig 1.4: Business Crime Control Chart

4.24 Having been at increased levels during August, September and October 2015 the 

levels have reduced back to around the the past few years average of 216 crimes 

recorded each month.

4.25 Last quarter there had been increases in business crime on the Chelmsley Wood 

Ward and during this quarter the levels of business crime on this Ward have 

returned to around the average levels of 26 recorded crimes with 18, 29 and 31 

business crimes recorded respectively however this location still had the most 

Thefts from Shops during this quarter across the Borough, followed by Shirley 

South Ward and St Alphege.

4.26 Last quarter Chelmsley Wood Ward accounted for 18.7% of the business crime in 

Solihull and this quarter this has reduced to 11.7%.

4.27 The retail park in Shirley and Solihull Town Centre remain areas with higher levels 

of business crime than other areas within the Borough however Solihull Town 

Page 19



Centre saw a significant decrease in December 2015.

4.28 Making off without Payment accounted for 21.7% of the business crime compared 

to 19.5% last quarter.  It has remained at increased levels since July 2015.  The 

Shirley Triangle and Olton locations have seen the greatest numbers of bilking 

since July.

4.29 Top premises for theft of petrol July to December have been Morrisons Petrol 

Station, Chester Road (34), BP Garage, Chester Road (27), Tesco Express, 

Warwick Road Olton (27),  BP Service Station Stratford Road (27), and the 

Sainsbury’s Petrol Station Kenilworth Road, Balsall Common (21).

5. Making our neighbourhoods safer places:

5.1 Op KICKSTART the action plan to tackle our Off Road Bike nuisance continued.

5.2 Road Safety work continued between officers from West Midlands Police, 

Licensing, Trading Standards, Customs & Excise, DVSA and the Magistrates Court 

to carry out multi agency vehicle checks at the NEC. Solihull Police continued to 

deal with road safety issues (such as excess speed, no insurance offences, Drink 

Driving) with over 50 incidents this quarter resulting in an arrest, a warning, a 

summons or a vehicle seizure.  Officers from Trading Standards, accompanied by 

an industry expert, visited all the sellers of part worn tyres across the Borough.  A 

total of 113 tyres were inspected in detail and 26 failed to meet safety standards.

5.3 Op SPARK is the enforcement activity around those individuals who use our roads 

as a racetrack.  Solihull LPU officers continue to act as the Single Point of Contact 

for the activities relating to this operation including directed patrols at hotspot 

locations, working with the NEC and other businesses, home visits to participants 

conducting safety inspections of vehicles.  There has been continuing racing 

incidents but no large gatherings.  One person has been cautioned for a public 

Page 20



nuisance offence and there will be further arrests relating to this incident.

5.4 Solihull Community Housing continued to work with Solihull Police to ensure that 

any drug related activity within Solihull Community Housing properties is dealt with 

swiftly.  A Closure Order, under the Anti-Social Behaviour Crime and Policing Act 

2014, was obtained on 5th January for a property in Mansfield House, Woodlands 

Way, Chelmsley Wood.

5.5 The Neighbourhood Activity Programme (NAP) continued, in partnership with 

Love Solihull, to deliver a range of environmental improvement projects engaging 

with businesses as part of their commitment to corporate social responsibility.

5.6 Positive Futures is an integral part of the Neighbourhood Activity Programme.  Its 

purpose is to positively engage young people at risk of anti-social behaviour (ASB).  

The programme has been particularly effective when requested to target ASB 

hotspots.  Examples of locations where targeted intervention which has taken place 

include; Tudor Grange Leisure Centre, Shirley Park, Barn Lane, Tudor Grange Park 

and Leisure Centre, Craig Croft (now Chelmunds Cross) and Smith’s Wood.  By 

having these weekly programmes implemented it provides a consistent approach 

for young people which are more likely to have a positive effect on their lives.

5.7 The ASB Service is provided by Solihull Community Housing (SCH) and is offered 

across all tenures in the Borough to deal with ASB issues in public spaces and 

communal areas.  The service is a multi-agency partnership to ensure a 

collaborative response to issues.  SCH benchmark nationally against performance 

of other ASB teams through House Mark and is deemed to be in the upper quartile 

for performance and satisfaction levels.  This quarter saw 82 satisfaction 

questionnaires returned with 70 of them satisfied with the service provided (85%).

Page 21



6. Bringing offenders to justice and tackle re-offending:

6.1 The Youth Justice Board report that Solihull remains a high performance service 

with the reoffending Binary Rate currently the lowest in the country at 22% (regional 

37%, national 32%).

6.2 This quarter has seen continued cross-border offender management activity with 

Birmingham East police and the Safer Travel team continued to patrol our public 

transport network in order to reduce criminal damage and antisocial behaviour.

6.3 The Neighbourhood Activity Programme (NAP) continued to offer weekly positive 

activity sessions for young offenders and targeted provision in locations identified 

as having increased levels of anti-social behaviour.

6.4 Work is on-going on the pathways between Criminal Justice partners and Solihull 

Integrated addiction services and this has seen an enhancement of services to 

support clients including a named worker support as they enter treatment.  It is 

intended that the same principles will be applied in respect of prison clients to 

enhance the service offered, ensure a smoother transition to treatment in the 

community and secure successful outcomes

7. Better protecting people from harm:  

7.1 The rates of Domestic Abuse remain unchanged based on police recording for this 

quarter compared to the previous quarter at 3 incidents recorded per 1000 

population. 

7.2 Through funding received from the West Midlands Police & Crime Commissioner, 

Domestic Abuse awareness has been rolled out in our schools, including the 

Healthy & Safe Relationships primary resource work, and is being delivered wildly 

across Solihull.  There has also been two full days of Domestic Abuse awareness 

Page 22



training delivered to school leads.  Schools are sufficiently trained, skilled and 

equipped to identify signs of domestic abuse and act on a concern.  Additional 

capacity has also been provided to the Community Outreach Service provided by 

Birmingham & Solihull Women’s Aid.

7.3 It is estimated that 4846 women will experience domestic abuse each year in 

Solihull and last year 543 were able to access services.  Two years ago Solihull’s 

support service had a six month waiting list and access was closed now the current 

model is meeting the existing demand.

7.4 Birmingham and Solihull Women’s Aid provide most of the direct work to children 

below the threshold for Children Services intervention. There was some concern 

about continuation funding for this work, but the Big Lottery have made a 

commitment to provide continuation of funding. 

7.5 Early Help is a new model of working in Solihull and the intention is to develop a 

mother and child domestic abuse programme as part of the offer. This is hoped to 

be in place by the end of the financial year.   

7.6 The Care Act 2014 has formally identified domestic abuse as part of adult 

safeguarding and further work is required to ensure we have the right response for 

those experiencing domestic abuse and also have care and support needs. 

7.7 On 3rd December the partnership had a stand at the International Day of People 

with Disability 2015 event, focussing on disability hate crime which offered the 

opportunity to promote the support available to victims, family members or carers to 

combat disability hate crime.

8. Supporting stronger communities:

8.1 Research shows how valuable Sport for Development programmes are to both our 

Page 23



society and economy by taking disadvantaged young people and providing the 

following outcomes

 Reduces the risk of alcohol & drugs misuse by 19.2%
 Reduces the risk of anti-social behaviour & crime by 15.8%
 Reduces the risk of becoming NEET by 6.8%
 Improves well-being by 14.3%
 Improves educational attainment by 12.7%
 Improves educational attendance by 4.5%
 Improves fitness and health by 7.3%

8.2 Behaviour model within Schools – The programme in partnership with “Box Clever” 

has refreshed the Neighbourhood Activity Programme’s schools based programme 

aimed at improving behaviour with schools.  This has been devised to support the 

national curriculum for physical education and will be aimed at pupils that are at risk 

of exclusion.

8.3 The Neighbourhood Activity Programme’s have recently agreed to support Park 

wood Leisure’s SWAY Dance programme at North Solihull Sports Centre.  This is 

really positive and will help to increase young people’s engagement with this 

initiative going forward.

9. Areas of further development

9.1 The Crime and Disorder Scrutiny Panel is asked to receive this report and offer 

support and challenge to the Safer Solihull Local Police and Crime Board in respect 

of performance, detailed at appendix A, and the challenges it faces to work with our 

communities to keep them safe

10. Evaluation of Alternative Option(s) 

10.1 Not applicable to this report

11. Reasons for Recommending Preferred Option

11.1 Not applicable to this report. The report is presenting a position statement and not 

Page 24



options for decision.

12. Scrutiny

12.1 This report is presented to the crime and disorder scrutiny panel for its 

consideration and comments to be relayed to the Safer Solihull Partnership meeting 

on 28th January 2016 

13. Implications

13.1 Policy/Strategy Implications 

In the execution of its duties the partnership uses its annual strategic assessment 

to shape policy and strategies with each statutory partner. The Council will consider 

the implications and its contribution to delivery against the priorities. 

13.2 Financial Implications  

Although there are no new financial implications arising from this report, action will 

be taken to ensure future decisions are made in consideration of the Council Vision 

and the planned Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS).

13.3 Legal implications

The Safer Solihull Local Police and Crime Board is a statutory partnership of the 

Council, Police, Fire and Probation Services and the Clinical Commissioning Group 

who have a responsibility to work together to tackle crime and disorder including 

Anti-Social Behaviour and substance misuse in the borough of Solihull.

13.4 Statutory Equality Duty

The Partnership has undertaken Fair Treatment Assessments and Equality Impact 

Assessments for its Domestic Abuse Strategy and the Council commissioned 

service for Anti-Social Behaviour. A Fair Treatment Assessment has been 

Page 25



undertaken in the production of the Safer Solihull Local Police and Crime Plan 

2015/16.

13.5 Carbon Management/Environmental

There is no impact on carbon management and environmental as a direct result of 

this report.

13.6 Partner Organisations

All of the Partner agencies work collectively towards addressing performance 

around these priorities.

13.7 Safeguarding/Corporate Parenting Implications

The Safer Solihull Local Police and Crime Board work closely with the Adult and 

Children & Young Peoples Safeguarding Boards, to ensure that the particular 

needs of our most vulnerable residents and visitors are taken into account in order 

to work proactively to reduce the risk of harm or abuse.

13.8 Customer Impact

Customers and key stakeholders are consulted in the preparation of the 

Partnership’s Annual strategic assessment, setting of Partnership priorities and 

Safer Solihull Local Police and Crime Plan. Their views help to shape and inform 

the Partnership response and demonstrate success.

14. List of Appendices Referred to

14.1 Appendix A Quarter 3 - October 2015 to December 2015

15. Background Papers Used to Compile this Report

15.1 Safer Solihull Local Police and Crime Plan 2015/16. 

Page 26



1

CSP Measures Summary -  Monthly Measures

Objective
01. Making our neighbourhood safer places
02. Better protecting people from harm

May 2015 June 2015 July 2015 August 
2015

September 
2015

October 
2015

November 
2015

December 
2015RAG 

Status Indicator Description Reporting 
Frequency

Last 
Update

Value Value Value Value Value Value Value Value

DAAT 01 Numbers in effective 
treatment - All drug users.

Months November 
2015 585 592 544 564 560 558 566

DAAT 01a (NI 40) Number of 
OCU (users of opiates and/or 
crack cocaine) recorded as 
being in effective treatment.

Months November 
2015 426 428 397 405 404 403 410

Objective
03. Supporting stronger communities

May 2015 June 2015 July 2015 August 
2015

September 
2015

October 
2015

November 
2015

December 
2015RAG 

Status Indicator Description Reporting 
Frequency

Last 
Update

Value Value Value Value Value Value Value Value

NI 16f Improve Victim 
Satisfaction

Months December 
2015 78.7% 86% 82.7% 68.2% 67.5% 68.1% 69% 69%

 

P
age 27



2

CSP Measures Summary -  Quarterly Measures

Objective
01. Making our neighbourhood safer places

Q4 2014/15 Q1 2015/16 Q2 2015/16 Q3 2015/16RAG 
Status Indicator Description Reporting 

Frequency
Last 
Update Value Value Value Value

NS CS 001 Total Recorded 
Crime

Quarters Q3 
2015/16 2,842 2,832 2,914 3,156

NI 16b Vehicle Crime Quarters Q3 
2015/16 451 396 475 479

NI 16c Robbery Quarters Q3 
2015/16 53 62 47 67

NI 16d Business Crime Quarters Q3 
2015/16 636 640 725 669

NI 16e Public Place Violence 
with Injury

Quarters Q3 
2015/16 136 173 119 176

NS CS 007 Partnership 
Speedwatch Activity

Quarters Q1 
2015/16 14

Objective
02. Better protecting people from harm

Q4 2014/15 Q1 2015/16 Q2 2015/16 Q3 2015/16RAG 
Status Indicator Description Reporting 

Frequency
Last 
Update Value Value Value Value

NGAP06 02 Rates of domestic abuse incidents recorded by the Police per 1000 
population

Quarters Q3 
2015/16 3 3 3 3

ECS 81 Number (and profile) of CSE victims (year to date)
Quarter 3 is published by YJB in February

Quarters Q2 
2015/16 36 49

P
age 28



3

RAG 
Status Indicator Description Reporting 

Frequency
Last 
Update

Q4 2014/15 Q1 2015/16 Q2 2015/16 Q3 2015/16

Value Value Value Value

DAAT 57 The number of alcohol clients in contact with treatment in the last 12 
months (rolling 12 month figure)

Quarters Q2 
2015/16 732 681 717

NS CS 01b Overall satisfaction with outcome of Anti Social Behaviour (ASB) cases 

(Qtr) The measure is unrealistic based on bench marking of the 

national standards. The partnership have reviewed this measure 

and set a new one which will begin in the new year from April 

2016

Quarters Q3 
2015/16

88.2% 83% 72% 85%

Objective
03. Supporting stronger communities

Q4 2014/15 Q1 2015/16 Q2 2015/16 Q3 2015/16RAG 
Status Indicator Description Reporting 

Frequency
Last 
Update Value Value Value Value

NI 16a Household Burglary Quarters Q3 
2015/16 175 143 178 259

 

P
age 29



4

CSP Measures Summary -  Annual Measures

Objective
01. Making our neighbourhood safer places

2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16RAG 
Status Indicator Description Reporting 

Frequency
Last 
Update Value Value Value Value Value

HS 01 IHW Number of Killed or Seriously Injured Casualties (based on 5 year rolling 
average)

Years 2014/15 76 74 64 56

NS CS 006 Making Neighbourhoods Safer - Inconsiderate parking - reported 
annually (BSC)

Years  

Objective
02. Better protecting people from harm
03. Supporting stronger communities

2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16
Indicator Description Reporting 

Frequency
Last 
Update Value Value Value Value Value

DAAT 86 Place Survey - % of respondents who thought people using or dealing drugs was an 
issue

Years 2014/15 22% 21% 20% 15%

NGAP04 01 Participation in formal volunteering (%) - Overall Borough Figure (bi-annual 
measure)

Years 2013/14 40.6% 46.1% 42.1%

NGAP04 02a Community Cohesion (% of people who agree people from different backgrounds 
get on well together in their local area) Overall Borough Figure

Years 2013/14 78.4% 71.7% 77.8%

NGAP07 02 Perception of anti-social behaviour and fear of crime (feel safe after dark) - 
Overall Borough Figure

Years 2013/14 66.3% 64.2% 63.7%

P
age 30



Crime and Disorder Scrutiny Panel
27th January 2016

Safer Solihull Partnership - Community Safety Plan report. 

. 

1. Purpose of Report

2. Purpose of report for scrutiny

2.1 Ahead of the Safer Solihull Local Police and Crime Board meeting on the 28th 

January 2016 the Panel are asked to review the current version of the Local Police 

and Crime Plan ahead of its revision and publication in April 2016. 

2.2 Crime and Disorder scrutiny panel are reminded of the report presented to them on 

21st October 2015 along with the annual strategic assessment.  An extract of which is 

presented from section 3 below. 

2.3 The annual report is presented to the crime and disorder panel and the safer Solihull 

partnership each year together with the revised annual strategic assessment to 

enable the board and panel to review the progress made over the last twelve months 

and to seek their views on the priorities for the coming year

3. Extract of the report presented to the Crime and Disorder Panel at its meeting 

on 21st October 2016

3.1 To provide the Crime and Disorder Scrutiny Panel with the opportunity to examine 

the Safer Solihull Partnership’s Strategic Assessment and its priorities for the 

partnership for 2016/17 and provide the Safer Solihull board with suggested 

amendments that are required to its Local Police and Crime Plan.

Page 31

Agenda Item 7



4. Decision(s) Recommended

4.1 The Crime and Disorder Scrutiny Panel are asked to provide any necessary 

comments on the contents of the Strategic Assessment.

4.2 To seek the Crime and Disorder Scrutiny Panel endorsement of the 

recommendations at Section 5 of this report.

4.3 To seek the Crime and Disorder Scrutiny Panel endorsement of the 

recommendation that following this review of crime and disorder the current 

priorities remain for 2016/17.

5. Background

5.1 During each year the Safer Solihull Partnership has a statutory requirement under 

the Crime and Disorder Regulations 2007 to prepare a strategic assessment on 

behalf of the responsible authorities. The purpose of a strategic assessment is to 

assist the Local Police and Crime Board in revising the partnership plan.

5.2 Currently the partnership have four strategic priorities

 Better protecting people from harm

 Bring offenders to justice and tackle re-offending

 Support stronger communities

 Make our neighbourhoods safer places

5.3 The assessment shows that crime is more controlled within the Borough so no 

changes to processes are needed and continuation of the current processes and 

priorities will enable further reductions to be achieved. 

6. Overview

6.1 The level of Total Recorded Crime has been more controlled between April 2014 

and July 2015 with an average of 948 crimes recorded per month (the previous 

Page 32



sixteen months saw an average of 980 crimes recorded per month).

6.2 As higher volume crime types, Theft from Motor Vehicle and Criminal Damage 

continue to offer opportunities for further reductions in Total Recorded Crime 

together with Business Crime which accounted for almost one in four of recorded 

crime in Solihull over the past year.

6.3 The Safer Solihull Partnership concentrates crime prevention efforts on a small 

number of higher-activity crime places. In 2015/16 there have been 10 key 

locations which if crime can be prevented at these “hot spots” it is likely that overall 

crime and the associated societal demands and costs will reduce as well. Although 

crime is reducing in these areas they remain areas with higher than the Solihull 

average level of crime.

6.4 Crime Generators (places where large numbers of people attend for reason 

unrelated to criminal motivation) have higher volumes of crime due principally to the 

larger number of users and targets available for offenders.

7. Recommendations

7.1 It is recommended that the two partnership plus areas, Chelmsley Town and 

Smiths Wood, remain the focus for partnership activity together with Solihull and 

Shirley Town Centres.

7.2 The partnership need to prevent the rises in crime in both November and March. 

7.3 Increase community involvement in crime reduction measures in the Chelmsley 

Town Partnership Plus area, for example neighbourhood watch or street 

associations.

7.4 Continue to develop business crime reduction partnerships within the three Town 

Centres

7.5 Ensure repeat victimisation is administered with a partnership approach through the 

Page 33



Problem Solving Panels, ASB Case Conferencing or the Harm and Vulnerable 

Victims Group.

7.6 All agencies to recognise the ten key locations for crime, disorder and other societal 

demands and risks

7.7 In order to maintain our reduction in robbery offences the partnership should 

continue to use the existing methods of managing robbery with the focus on 

preventing incidents between young people; including raising the awareness of 

bullying.

7.8 Road Safety should remain a priority for the partnership due to increases in the 

Killed and seriously injured figures and increased vehicle extrications during 2014 

and our communities concerns about speeding and the anti-social use of our roads.

7.9 The Local Police and Crime Board to ensure the current changes being made to 

our statutory agencies do not impact negatively on the delivery of the Solihull Local 

Police and Crime Plan and that agencies evidence that they consider the crime and 

disorder implications of their decision making.

8. List of Appendices Referred to

8.1 Not applicable to this report  

9. Background Papers Used to Compile this Report

9.1 Safer Solihull Strategic Assessment – A review of Crime and Disorder

Page 34



This document is in draft format during a process of consultation with key stakeholders before being finalised by the Safer 
Solihull Local Police and Crime Board at its meeting on the 31st March 2016.

DRAFT for consideration by Crime and Disorder Scrutiny Panel before being 
presented to the Safer Solihull Police and Crime Board 

Front Cover

Solihull’s Local Police and Crime Plan 2016/17

New Pictures to be added

Page 35



This document is in draft format during a process of consultation with key stakeholders before being finalised by the Safer 
Solihull Local Police and Crime Board at its meeting on the 31st March 2016.

Page 3: Contents page

This page is intentionally left blank until final version complete

Page 36



This document is in draft format during a process of consultation with key stakeholders before being finalised by the Safer 
Solihull Local Police and Crime Board at its meeting on the 31st March 2016.

Page 4: Introduction

Welcome to the latest edition of the Safer Solihull Local Police and Crime Plan. Once again 
our plan has been developed by listening to our communities, working with them to 
understand what is most important to them and asking what it is they think we should focus 
on the most.  We know that this presents some challenges because often the things that 
most people experience such as vehicle nuisance from irresponsible parking are not as 
harmful as violence against a person. It is therefore important that whilst listening, we also 
look at what crime and disorder occurs across our borough, so that we can consider what 
future opportunities and challenges might present throughout the year for all aspects of our 
communities. 

We will deliver our plan working with our partners both statutory, none statutory and our 
communities.  Our ambition remains  to make Solihull a great place in which to live, be 
educated, work and visit. We continue to promote a vision of Solihull where everyone has 
an equal chance to be healthier, happier, safer and more prosperous. 

We recognise that whilst Solihull is a broadly affluent borough there are areas where gaps 
exist and the levels of prosperity are lower having an  impact on the quality of life for 
people in these neighbourhoods. Each year we see that the people living, working or 
visiting Solihull change in their make-up. Along with this plan our equalities and diversity 
review will ensure that  we  work to meet the diverse needs of everyone as our 
communities change and evolve.

We know that lots of services are delivered on a day to day basis by lots of different people 
and organisations. The work of the Safer Solihull partnership, captured in this plan, is 
about how we can combine what we do, remove duplication and narrow  inequalities that 
may exist. 

By listening to and working with our communities we have achieved a lot with fewer victims 
of crime, more people being supported to live free from abuse and hatred with stronger 
safer communities. 

At the end of March 2016 reported crime was (to be inserted at the year end and before 
publication).  That’s XXX fewer people or businesses have become victims of crime. More 
people are able to live free of anti-social behaviour, fewer people have been killed or 
seriously injured on our roads, there are fewer adults and young people offending in 
Solihull and more people are being supported to live free of drugs and alcohol. 

The  challenging financial times of recent years continue , we know that by continually 
thinking about what we do and the way in which we  do it makes sense and prevents 
wastage of limited resources. Working together we know that we can still achieve more 
and with continuing optimism for the year ahead we will strive to reduce crime further. This 
year saw Solihull Police and Solihull Council  integrate teams of officers who work around 
neighbourhood services and provide support to vulnerable people. This work continues in 
2016/17 with further integration with Solihull Community Housing. 

If you would like to know more about our work or give us your views on our plan n we can 
be contacted at safersolihull.gov.uk or on 0121 704 6644.or visit our web pages at.hyper 
link to websites/social media  etc.    

Pictures of chair and vice chair of the partnership here

Page 37



This document is in draft format during a process of consultation with key stakeholders before being finalised by the Safer 
Solihull Local Police and Crime Board at its meeting on the 31st March 2016.

Page 5: 

Listening to our communities

Every day we have contact with members of our communities, either directly or through 
community representatives or elected members. This helps us to gather an understanding 
of the things that matter most and impact on their quality of life. We really appreciate 
having this contact and it helps us to produce this plan and to capture what, as a 
partnership we will focus on throughout the year. 

In 2016/17 our focus remains the same with emphasis on putting people at the heart of 
what we do. 

We will continue to focus on the following:

Priority 1: Better protecting people from harm: 
Priority 2: Bringing offenders to justice and tackle re-offending: 
Priority 3: Supporting stronger communities: 
Priority 4: Making our neighbourhoods safer places: 

Accountability:

The plan and how we will ensure that we do make a difference will be overseen by the 
Safer Solihull Local Policing and Crime Board.  Our Board is made up of senior leaders 
from the Police, Council, Health, Fire and Probation services. These leaders are joined by 
a wide range of community representatives. These community representatives act as our 
critical friends and ensure that the Board is better equipped to listen to and act upon the 
issues that matter most to our communities. . We are particularly pleased to have the two 
Solihull Youth Police Commissioners join us to ensure that young people had a voice in 
local decision making. Updated Photo of the Board.....? 

Measuring Success:

Each year we produce a document called a” strategic assessment” that shows the levels of 
crime and community safety that have occurred in the past year. It also tries to predict what 
is likely to occur. The assessment gives the board the right information to be more 
responsive to need, develop a better understanding of local crime, disorder and substance 
misuse issues. Working with this information enables us to prioritize appropriately and 
allocate resources in the most effective way.  

Throughout the year we make sure that what we are doing has the right impact by looking 
at performance information.  

Page 38



This document is in draft format during a process of consultation with key stakeholders before being finalised by the Safer 
Solihull Local Police and Crime Board at its meeting on the 31st March 2016.

Page 6; 

Priority theme: Better protecting people from harm.

Protecting vulnerable people from harm remains a key focus for us this year. We know that 
there are lots of crimes that are hidden that cause the most harm to those who are being 
subjected to them.  These include Domestic abuse, child protection and the impact on 
family life of substance misuse and child sexual exploitation and hate crime. 

We will continue to work hard to support victims at the earliest opportunity and in a way 
that is acceptable to them. We are committed to providing early help to families with young 
children to prevent formal intervention. We will bring to justice those offenders responsible 
for causing harm to others. 

2014/15 saw us seeking out information about what was driving violent crime, including 
domestic abuse, substance misuse, especially in certain areas of the borough. We 
provided training within our schools to practitioners and now more and more pupils are 
able to understand about healthy relationships and where to go to seek help if they feel 
vulnerable. 

We will continue our work to better protect people from harm through existing 
arrangements, namely, the Harm Reduction and Vulnerable Victim Forum and our 
Domestic Abuse Priority Group. We will work closely with the Local Safeguarding 
Children’s Board and Local Safeguarding Adults Board to ensure that we are working 
together as efficiently as we can with a particular emphasis on training professional staff 
together.

Our objectives:
Continuing our commitment to supporting those who are at significant risk due to domestic 
abuse through. 

 Prevention and early intervention
 Protection and Justice 
 Support to victims
 Partnership working
 Ensure an effective response to children and young people in need of protection 

including those  at risk  of, or experiencing, child sexual exploitation  We will; Raise 
awareness among children and young people about safe and healthy relationships, 
including on line safety

 Raise awareness in the community about CSE.
 Target children at risk of CSE using the regional problem profile and local 

intelligence.
 Use available criminal and civil interventions to disrupt local perpetrator activities
 Ensure multi-agency arrangements to prevent and act on CSE are robust and 

working well for children and young people.
 Prevention, healthy lifestyles, communities and families.

 To help our communities develop healthy attitudes and behaviours around alcohol
and drug use, and ensure families get help to prevent and deal with the risks to
young people and relationships. 

 To make sure we recognise and respond to the crime and antisocial behaviour linked to 
alcohol and drug misuse: 

 Hate crime. 
 To prevent hate crime - by challenging the attitudes that underpin it, and intervening early to 

prevent it escalating; 
 To increase reporting and access to support - by raising awareness of what hate crime is, 

Page 39



This document is in draft format during a process of consultation with key stakeholders before being finalised by the Safer 
Solihull Local Police and Crime Board at its meeting on the 31st March 2016.

building victim and witness confidence and supporting local partnerships; and 
 To improve the partnership response to hate crimes - by best practice in better identifying 

and managing cases, and dealing effectively with offenders.

How we will measure success 
Metric 1 By monitoring the numbers of people in effective treatment for all drug 

users.
Metric 2 By monitoring the number of users of opiates and/or crack cocaine 

recorded as being in effective treatment
Metric 3 By monitoring the number of alcohol clients in contact with treatment 

in the last 12 months.
Metric 4 By monitoring the number of victims who are satisfied with the way in 

which their case has been handled by the Police 

Metric 5 By monitoring the number of victims who are satisfied with the way in 
which their case has been handled by the Solihull Anti-Social 
Behaviour Service.

Metric 6 *Identify and monitor the numbers of children and young people at 
risk of child sexual exploitation/being abused through sexual 
exploitation.

Metric 7 *Rate of domestic abuse incidents recorded by the Police (per 1000 
of population)

Metric 8 *The number of reported hate crime incidents recorded by the third 
party reporting centres and the police

* The partnership understands that Child Sexual exploitation, domestic abuse and hate 
crimes are often hidden and under reported. Therefore we acknowledge that an increase in 
numbers and confidence for people to report these crimes and seek support is seen as a 
positive.

Page 40



This document is in draft format during a process of consultation with key stakeholders before being finalised by the Safer 
Solihull Local Police and Crime Board at its meeting on the 31st March 2016.

 Page 7: 

Priority theme: Bringing offenders to justice and tackling reoffending.

Partners will continue to focus on those offenders responsible for committing crime within 
our borough and who cause the greatest harm. We recognise that some offenders commit 
crime within their local area whilst other parts of the borough are more susceptible to 
travelling offenders. We will tailor our work to meet these different threats. Our co-located 
integrated offender management Police, Probation and Health team, launched in January 
2014 has proven to be very successful in supporting offenders away from criminality. It has 
enabled us to focus on the links between offending and substance misuse, identifying and 
targeting persistent and high risk offenders.

Partnership work will be driven through these existing offender arrangements with a focus 
on further reducing reoffending of both adults and young people. February 2015 saw a new 
partnership through the Ministry of Justice Transformation Programme and the private 
consortium of the Reducing Re-offending Partnership of Ingeus, CRI, St Giles and the 
Staffordshire and West Midlands Community Rehabilitation Company. 
 We will work with the new partnership to ensure that those low and medium risk offenders 
reduce their offending and are better integrated back into society upon release from 
custody. 

We will continue to support and help drive the pioneering Families First programme 
ensuring that preventative and pre-emptive work with families has an impact on further 
reducing offending and domestic abuse. We will continue to develop restorative justice 
locally bringing victims, if they so wish and if appropriate and offenders together in a 
controlled and managed arrangement to enable everyone affected by the incident to repair 
the harm, to hold the offender personally to account and to agree positive ways forward.

Our objectives:
Improving skills, knowledge & systems that support working in a joined up way to tackle 
offending and protect vulnerable victims.

Offenders (ensuring that we identify those at risk of offending or those whose offending may 
escalate & take targeted action to prevent this).

• Reoffending rates drop among target groups (e.g. medium risk offenders).
• Targeted young people don’t go onto become adult offenders.
• Problems tackled earlier resulting in reduced demand for reactive services from families.
 Provide access to treatment and recovery for drug and alcohol users in the criminal 

justice system.
Vulnerable victims:

• Increased referrals and recording of domestic abuse from partner agencies 
 Ensuring criminal and civil proceedings are used to protect young people from CSE.

How we will measure success 
Metric 1 Youth justice board reoffending rates
Metric 2 Young person First time entrants into the criminal justice system 

measure 
Metric 3 The number of offenders who are supported to reduce their 

offending through the integrated offender management framework. 

Page 41



This document is in draft format during a process of consultation with key stakeholders before being finalised by the Safer 
Solihull Local Police and Crime Board at its meeting on the 31st March 2016.

Page 8

Priority Theme: Supporting stronger communities.

We remain committed to keeping everyone informed about our work locally and actively 
encouraging people to become involved in local community safety work. Our message is 
simple – if it matters to you it matters to us. Each year we test our understanding of the 
things you tell us matter most to you. This year they continue to be burglary, inconsiderate 
parking, speeding traffic and drug misuse but other community concerns you have are anti-
social behaviour and environmental crime. 

There is also evidence of issues that seem to be hidden such as domestic abuse. We 
know that national and local data tells us how it impacts on individuals, families and 
communities. We will seek to improve further our communications with our communities, 
using different methods to ensure that all sectors of our communities are informed and 
afforded the opportunity to engage with us, seek our support and be guided to the right 
services to get help.   Our work will be driven locally through the existing Priority Setting 
Panel neighbourhood meeting arrangements along with other community based 
opportunities. 

We will continue to support resident led groups in Chelmsley Wood, Fordbridge and 
Smithswood to identify & address community needs. We will explore how we build the 
skills locally to develop more Street Associations, building on the pilot carried out in 
2014/15, as well as exploring opportunities to jointly fund street level community 
development. We will look to roll out the Solihull Citizenscape to link existing community 
networks as well as promoting greater transparency and citizen involvement in local 
decision making. 

Our objectives:
Addressing domestic abuse by seeking to prevent and intervene early, provide protection to victims 
and seek justice. 
Reducing acquisitive crime including burglary and  vehicle and a proportionate response to business 
crime - we will continue to work  to address these crimes by focussing on the areas suffering most 
and provide a proportionate response to business crime .
Tackling Anti-Social Behaviour including speeding and irresponsible parking – we will seek to design 
out opportunities, conduct regular activities and educate drivers working with our partners and local 
people in areas where this is proven to be an issue.     
We will respond to community concerns, prioritising enforcement, prevention and treatment activity 
in areas suffering from drug dealing and drug use.  
Building community capacity through working with resident led groups to identify and address local 
issues and by building the skills locally to develop more Street Associations
We will work to make our borough a safer place to walk, cycle and drive in. 

How we will measure success 
Metric 1 Community Cohesion (% of people who believe people from different backgrounds get 

on well
together in their local area)

Metric 2 By monitoring the number of victims who are satisfied with the way in which their case 
has been handled by the Police 

Metric 3 By monitoring the number of victims who are satisfied with the way in which their case 
has been handled by the Solihull Anti-Social Behaviour Service.

Metric 4 Place Survey - % of respondents who thought people using or dealing drugs was an 
issue

Metric 5 The level of community led activity to identify and address local issues.

Page 42



This document is in draft format during a process of consultation with key stakeholders before being finalised by the Safer 
Solihull Local Police and Crime Board at its meeting on the 31st March 2016.

Page 9

Priority theme:  Making our neighbourhoods safer places. 

We will continue to do our utmost to reduce crime ensuring fewer and fewer people 
experience the life changing impact of becoming a victim. We recognise the corrosive 
effect that anti-social behaviour has on the quality of local people’s lives and on their fear 
of crime. We will work together to tackle anti-social behaviour and improve the quality of 
life for those affected. We will focus partnership work in places where our intensive and 
long term involvement will help change lives and build safer and stronger communities. 
Through our dismantling organised crime groups multi agency forum we will disrupt the 
lives of those individuals who cause harm to our communities. 

During 2015/16 we will intensify partnership activity within Chelmsley Wood and Smith’s 
Wood to support people who most need our help.  Across the borough we will continue to 
build upon the strong relationships that exist with business communities to contribute to 
economic growth in Solihull. Likewise we will work with licensees to ensure a vibrant and 
safe night time economy within our town centres robustly enforcing licence conditions 
when pubs and clubs are not managed responsibly. 

We will actively keep people updated about the difference policing and partnership work is 
making locally through local neighbourhood arrangements whilst also seeking to further 
develop our digital engagement through social media. Our work will be driven through the 
new Thriving Neighbourhoods delivery group, this group supports the Safer Solihull 
Partnership to drive forward our plan and ensuring alignment across the delivery structures 
of the Solihull Partnership. We work collectively to ensure that a focus is maintained on 
impact and improving outcomes.

Our objectives:
1. Support our neighbourhoods to flourish through the development of annually 

reviewed ward action plans that deliver outcomes to help our neighbourhoods to be 
safer, cleaner, greener and healthier.

2. Addressing inconsiderate parking across the borough by 

 Agreeing a definition of what inconsiderate parking is. 
 Educating and influencing behaviour of those who park inconsiderately.
 Work with our communities to reduce their concerns regarding inconsiderate 

parking.
3.    Address speeding Traffic 

 Improve  community involvement in speed awareness and enforcement schemes
 Work with our communities to reduce their concerns regarding speeding traffic.

How we will measure success 
Metric 1 Monitor and report quarterly on the number of Police / Local Authority 

interventions and community speed watch schemes.
Metric 2 Monitor and report yearly on the level of community concern 

regarding inconsiderate parking
Metric 3 Monitor and report yearly on the number of parking Traffic Regulation 

Orders introduced as a result of concern regarding inconsiderate 
parking and speeding 

Page 43



This document is in draft format during a process of consultation with key stakeholders before being finalised by the Safer 
Solihull Local Police and Crime Board at its meeting on the 31st March 2016.

Metric 4 Monitor and report quarterly on the number of Partnership Speed-
Watch schemes across the Borough

Metric 5 Reported incidents of crime (rate per 1,000 population)
Metric 6 Monitor and report yearly on the number of Speed Awareness 

Campaigns 
Metric 7 Monitoring the number of people killed and or seriously injured 
Metric 8 Reporting on agency dismantling organized crime groups multi 

agency forum 

Page 44



This document is in draft format during a process of consultation with key stakeholders before being finalised by the Safer 
Solihull Local Police and Crime Board at its meeting on the 31st March 2016.

Page 10: 

How to find out more detail. 

Each year we take a look back at what has happened in relation to crime and community 
safety issues across Solihull. We use lots of information to do this which includes data from 
our partners, by listening to what our communities tell us from things such as day to day 
contact, meetings and surveys. This together with what we know about possible changes 
in legislation, policy, procedures and the ever changing patterns of crime helps to inform 
our annual strategic assessment. As well as looking at local things that matter to you we 
also consider what might be happening across the region and nationally to inform our plans 
to combat crime and improve community safety.  A copy of our latest and previous 
strategic assessments is available on our web pages at www.solihull.gov.uk or by 
emailing safersolihull@solihull.gov.uk

Page 45



This page is intentionally left blank



Crime and Disorder Scrutiny 
Update on the ASB, Crime and Policing Act 2014.
27th January 2016

1.1 Purpose of Report

1.1.1 To provide an update to the Crime and Disorder Scrutiny Panel on the 
changes that were introduced in October 2014 around the Anti-Social 
Behaviour (ASB), Crime and Policing Act 2014.  

1.1.2 The Council, Police and other agencies were given powers, through 
legislation, to help protect individuals and communities from anti-social 
behaviour and crime that occurs. These powers changed through new 
legislation that was introduced in 2014. The intention was that the powers and 
tools will be easier and quicker to use and in doing so would enhance the 
protection we are able to give to our communities when responding to ASB. 
This report gives an overview of the specific legislative changes and the 
progress made so far. 

1.2 Actions Requested of the panel 

1.2.1 The panel are asked to receive this report and note the current position in 
respect of implementation of the Act. 

1.3 Background

1.3.1 On 8th April 2014 the Secretary of State enacted a Commencement Order 
which brought into force some sections of the Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime 
and Policing Act 2014 as early as 13th May 2014. The Act included the new 
ASB Community Trigger and the Community Remedy. These two elements of 
the Act along with the remainder of the new tools and powers were enacted 
later in the year on 20th October 2014. This meant that Local Authorities, 
Police, housing providers and all other organisations involved in responding to 
ASB needed to prepare to implement the new changes.

1.4 Implementation of the Act

1.4.1 Working with partners across the West Midlands region West Midlands Police 
developed a force wide implementation plan for the roll out of the Act. The 
plan looked at the internal changes needed from within the Police service but 
also incorporated those areas of the Act that involved Local Authorities, 
housing providers and other organisations involved with dealing with ASB. To 
complement the regional plan a local version was developed with our 
partners. The Solihull implementation plan covered key issues including 
internal and external communications, opportunities for raising awareness of 
the Act with all stakeholders, policy and procedure reviews and training for 
practitioners. 

1.4.2 The key to the successful role out of the Act was to ensure that our public and 
practitioners understood what the changes meant to them and for 
practitioners to understand how a better more responsive approach to dealing 
with ASB could be delivered. To this end there was a multi-agency 
implementation working group set up to deliver the plan and to ensure that all 
agencies were joined up in their approach.

1.4.3 A dedicated area on the Council website was established, outlining the new 
legislation and what it means for people. A press release was issued when 
the Act was launched which generated some local media coverage, with more 
of a focus on the police element of the Act. Information was also sent out to 
residents via social media and in Your Solihull (the Council’s quarterly 

Page 47

Agenda Item 8



magazine for residents). Since the Act was launched we have not any media 
enquiries to the Council about the new legislation. 

1.5 Elements of the Act

1.5.1 The other key elements of the act are listed below. 

Part 1: Putting Victims First

1.1 Community Trigger
1.2 Community Remedy

Part 2: More effective responses

2.1 Early and informal interventions
2.2 Civil Injunctions
2.3 Criminal behaviour order
2.4 Dispersal power
2.5 Community protection notice
2.6 Public spaces protection order
2.7 Closure power
2.8 new absolute grounds for possession
 
1.5.2 A full overview of the Act and its powers can be found at:

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/24874
7/01_ASB_Guidance_FINAL.pdf

1.6 Part 1: Putting Victims first; Community Trigger 

1.6.1 The Purpose of the trigger is such that it gives victims and communities the 
right to request a review of their case and bring agencies together to take a 
joined up problem solving approach to finding a solution.  The relevant bodies 
that can be involved with the review are Councils, Police, Clinical 
Commissioning Groups and registered providers of social housing. Areas 
must set a threshold, defined by the local agencies but it should not be more 
than 3 complaints in the previous six months. It may also take account of 
persistence of the ASB, the harm or potential harm caused by the ASB and 
the adequacy of the response to the ASB. As part of the trigger process 
agencies agreed the mechanisms for dealing with the request once the trigger 
threshold had been met. 

1.6.2 Once the trigger threshold is met, a case review is undertaken by the partner 
agencies within an agreed timeframe and with the knowledge of the victim. 
Agencies will share information related to the case, review what action has 
previously been taken and decide whether additional actions are 
possible. The local Community Trigger procedure clearly states the 
timescales in which the review will be undertaken. However, we also stipulate 
that these timeframes need to be flexible as some of the cases we have had 
to review have been quite complex and needed longer to review. In all cases 
the victim or person lodging the trigger is kept informed. 

1.6.3 The review encourages a problem-solving approach aimed at dealing with 
some of the most persistent, complex cases of anti-social behaviour. The 
victim is informed of the outcome of the review. Where further actions are 
necessary an action plan is discussed with the victim, including timescales. 
The trigger can be used by a victim of anti-social behaviour or another person 
acting on behalf of the victim such as a carer or family member, Member of 
Parliament or Councillor. The victim can be an individual, a business or a 
community group. Page 48

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/248747/01_ASB_Guidance_FINAL.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/248747/01_ASB_Guidance_FINAL.pdf


1.6.4 To ensure some consistency around the trigger across the West Midlands 
Police force the Heads of Community Safety from the seven Local Authority 
areas worked with officers within West Midlands Police to agree a region wide 
trigger and a uniformed approach for how the triggers are dealt with once the 
threshold has been met. Solihull already had a robust multi-agency process 
for dealing with ASB case work so it was agreed that the current process be 
amended to incorporate the ability to investigate trigger cases. 

1.6.5 The multi- agency ASB case conferencing was reviewed and re-launched. 
Initially there was a slow start to cases being brought to the meeting with few 
numbers and practitioners being able to attend and present their own cases. 
This has now improved and the partnership is currently working to move all 
case management meetings on to a system called ECINs. This system and 
forum is the ideal way to share information and exchanging ideas securely 
around the case management for ASB. The new processes was in place and 
publicised by 20th October 2014 when this section of the Act went live.

1.6.6 Since the 20th October 2014 Solihull has received 12 trigger requests. 1 is in 
the early days of being opened up. 6 met the trigger threshold and actions 
were put in place and the cases are now closed. 4 did not meet the trigger 
threshold and advice was given and 1 case is still being progressed through 
the procedure. 

1.6.7 Solihull has received more trigger requests than other areas around the West 
Midlands but we would not see this as a negative. The partnership is always 
looking for ways to continuously improve and provide a better service to 
victims of ASB. As part of the role of the new Act officers were all trained and 
briefed on the trigger and wherever cases become complex or unable to be 
resolved the trigger has been suggested to victims as a way to have their 
case reviewed. 

1.6.8 It is early days since the triggers were launched but for all of the cases that 
have been to panel and have been reviewed lessons and learning have been 
picked up by the service areas and changes made already. Each case has 
been fully researched by the relevant agencies and systems interrogated in 
terms of contact and response for the panels consideration. The whole 
process is very time consuming in some cases for the team Leader who is 
pulling the information together, however it has highlighted and identified 
some downfalls in the processes that the Solihull Community Housing ASB 
service and the Police sometimes take. We hope that in time this will translate 
into a better response for dealing with ASB across Solihull. 

1.7 Part 1: Putting Victims first; Community Remedy 

1.7.1 The Community Remedy gives victims a say in the out-of-court punishment of 
offenders. The legislation does not specify what actions should be included in 
the Community Remedy document and will vary from one Police Force to 
another. The Police and Crime Commissioner for West Midlands sought the 
views of residents on the sanctions to be included in the West Midlands 
Community Remedy. Under the new rules, victims of low-level crime are 
offered a say in the way offenders are dealt with out of court. The consultation 
focused on three key elements: 

1.7.2 The Act placed a duty on Police and Crime Commissioners to consult with 
members of the public and community representatives on what punitive, 
restorative or rehabilitative actions they would consider appropriate to be on 
the Community Remedy document. Police Officers work from the resulting 
menu of sanctions when using two types of out-of-court disposal - informal 
community resolutions and conditional cautions. The victim must be consulted 
on the sanction to be offered to the offender and given the option to choose 
an appropriate sanction from the menu. The police officer in question (or Page 49



prosecutor in some cases) has the ultimate responsibility for ensuring that the 
sanction offered to the offender is proportionate to the offence. 

1.7.3 So far in the Solihull Borough, there have been 119 community resolutions 
from the 1st April 2015 for low level crime and anti-social behaviour incidents. 
One of the options available to Police officers is requesting offender(s) to 
participate in litter picking at two locations on the North and South of the 
Borough working in partnership with the local neighbourhood rangers in which 
there have been 7 successful disposals for this remedy. The victim’s 
awareness course (VAC) has shown to be effective where it improves victim 
satisfaction and reduces reoffending. At present there have been 16 
successful VAC referrals. 

1.8 Part 2: More effective powers.

1.8.1 Early and informal interventions:

1.8.2 Early intervention, especially through informal approaches, can be successful 
in stopping the anti-social behaviour committed by the majority of 
perpetrators. Early and informal interventions can establish clear standards of 
behaviour and reinforce the message that anti-social behaviour will not be 
tolerated. It should be for frontline professionals to decide when and how to 
use these approaches, but the Government encourages use of informal 
methods where it is deemed to be appropriate.

1.8.3 Informal interventions are considered first in most cases, particularly when 
dealing with young people, as they can stop bad behaviour before it 
escalates. The response is determined by professionals on a case by case 
basis. However, some of the most common forms of informal intervention are 
the use of warnings – verbal or written, mediation, community resolution or 
acceptable behaviour contracts. Alternatively, in cases where informal 
intervention is not the appropriate first step, perhaps because the victim is at 
risk of harm, professionals consider progressing directly to formal sanctions. 
The legislation and its changes are meant to provide practitioners with a 
comprehensive toolkit for dealing with ASB.

1.8.4 The Councils environmental crime team have not had the need to use any of 
the powers yet, although officers have been trained. At the current time 
officers continue to manage to deal with the issues presented to them by 
using the existing powers and are working towards producing the template 
notices and related protocols for any new processes.  However, converting 
our Dog Control Order into a Public space places order is currently being 
considered.

1.8.5 In Solihull, once a reoccurrence of anti-social behaviour for a location or a 
member of public occurs, the local Police neighbourhood team will work in 
partnership with local authorities and the public who are being affected by 
Anti-social behaviour for early intervention. Once a perpetrator(s) has been 
identified for causing anti-social behaviour, in which it is causing harassment, 
alarm and distress for the victim then if appropriate the first steps to help 
tackle the issues will take place. Since the 1ST of April there has been 16 Anti-
social behaviour agreements (ABA) recorded in which 5 are still active, 1 
which has now led to a Criminal behaviour Order application and 10 that have 
been effective where it has essentially helped prevent further Anti-social 
behaviour and those ABA’s are no longer required as the problem no longer 
exists. 

SCH have issued 53 ABA’s in the period from the commencement of the Act in Oct 
2014 through to the end of Dec 2015. These are for an array of issues from Dog 
fouling, fly tipping, verbal abuse and smell of cannabis. 

1.8.6 Civil Injunctions 
Page 50



1.8.7 It is an Injunction to Prevent Nuisance and Disorder and replaced the 
standalone Anti-Social Behaviour Order (ASBO) and Anti-Social Behaviour 
Injunction (ASBI) it is to be used to stop or prevent individuals engaging in 
anti-social behaviour quickly, nipping problems in the bud before they 
escalate. Agencies that can apply for the injunction are: Local Councils, Social 
Landlords, Police, Environment agency and NHS Protect. 

1.8.8 The test for the use of the injunction is conduct capable of causing nuisance 
or annoyance and it must be seen to be just and convenient to grant the 
injunction to prevent behaviour. It can be issued by the county court for over 
18’s and the youth court for under 18s’. The injunction can include prohibitions 
and can also include positive requirements to get the perpetrator to address 
the underlying causes of their anti-social behaviour. Agencies must consult 
youth offending teams in applications against under 18s. Breach of the 
injunction is not a criminal offence, but breach must be proved to the criminal 
standard, that is, beyond reasonable doubt. 

1.8.9 The injunction is available to a wider range of agencies than Anti-Social 
Behaviour Injunctions and is obtainable on a civil standard of proof unlike 
Anti-Social Behaviour Orders (ASBOs).  There is no need to prove “necessity” 
unlike ASBOs and a breach is not a criminal offence. There is greater scope 
for positive requirements to focus on long-term solutions.

1.8.10 In Solihull up until now we have had not had the need to use the new 
injunction but SCH have recently made an application to the County Court for 
our first Civil Injunction.   

1.8.11  Criminal Behaviour Orders (CBO)

1.8.12 These are issued by any criminal court against a person who has been convicted of an 
offence to tackle the most persistently anti-social individuals who are also engaged in 
criminal activity.  Applicants are the prosecution, in most cases the Crown Prosecution 
Service (CPS), either at its own initiative or following a request from the Police or 
Council. The test for the CBO will be if the court is satisfied beyond reasonable doubt 
that the offender has engaged in behaviour that has caused or is likely to cause 
harassment, alarm or distress to any person; and the court considers that making the 
order will help prevent the offender from engaging in such behaviour. 

1.8.13 The anti-social behaviour does not need to be part of the criminal offence and the order 
will include prohibitions to stop the anti-social behaviour but it can also include positive 
requirements to get the offender to address the underlying causes of the offender's 
behaviour. Agencies must find out the view of the youth offending team (YOT) for 
applications for under 18s.  Breach of the order is a criminal offence and must be 
proved to a criminal standard of proof, that is, beyond reasonable doubt.

1.8.14 In Solihull the Solihull Community Hosing service have been in consultation with the 
Police over the evidence for a few CBO’s. The Police have reported that there have 
been 11 applications for a Criminal Behaviour Order in which at present there has been 
one successful CBO prohibiting that individual not to go to any ASDA shopping centre 
in the country. There are 9 CBO applications in process where there is a requirement 
for the perpetrator to be charged in order for the CBO to go through successfully, 
working in conjunction with Crown Prosecution Service so that all information and 
evidence has been obtained correctly and expeditiously.

1.8.15 Dispersal powers

1.8.16 The dispersal power is a new flexible power which can be used in a range of 
situations to disperse anti-social individuals and provide immediate respite to 
a local community. Prior to the Act the Police working with the Council had to 
go through a cumbersome process for designating the area a dispersal zone 
before they could deal with the problem, potentially not able to deal with the 
ASB until the order is approved. The new dispersal power has given the 

Page 51



Police the power to disperse individuals or groups causing or likely to cause 
ASB in public places. Police officers and police community support officers 
are be able to require a person to leave an area and not return for up to 48 
hours. The new power is authorised by an officer of at least the rank of 
Inspector and does not require consultation with the local authority. 

1.8.17 The power can be used in any public place and in common areas of private 
land with the landowner or occupiers consent (such as shopping centres). The 
enhanced power combines the most effective elements of the current 
legislation into a single tool. The enhanced power is preventative as it allows 
an officer to deal instantly with someone’s behaviour and deal with the 
problem before it escalates. The police are now able to deal quickly with 
emerging trouble spots providing immediate respite to victims. 

1.8.18 The direction can be given to anyone over the age of 10. The officer is able to 
return children under 16 home or to another place of safety if they are 
behaving anti-socially and are not accompanied by an adult. West Midlands 
Police already have safeguarding arrangements in place to ensure that 
children are not returned to unsafe homes or placed in potentially harmful 
situations.

1.8.19 The Police Officer or PCSO are also able to require the individual to hand 
over items causing or likely to cause ASB such as alcohol, fireworks, or spray 
paint. Confiscated items are held at the police station and can be collected 
after the period of the dispersal. Failure to comply with the dispersal is a 
criminal offence and will carry a maximum penalty of a £2,500 fine and/or 
three months imprisonment. Failure to hand over confiscated items is also a 
criminal offence and could have a penalty of up to a £500 fine. These 
sanctions are in line with current equivalent powers and will ensure there are 
serious consequences for those failing to comply.

1.8.20 In Solihull we have had 8 dispersal authorisations in the north and south of 
the Borough from December 2014 to June 2015. In December there were two 
section 34 authorisations in Solihull Town centre and McDonalds on Bosworth 
Drive where 4 were issued with section 35 dispersal notices. In January there 
was one authorisation in Shirley Park where there was one stop. In February 
there were 32 stops and 3 arrests from two dispersal authorisations in 
Chelmsley Wood Town Centre and Solihull Town Centre. There were 3 
section 34 authorisations made in June where 20 people were stopped and 
dispersed. 

1.8.21 Community Protection Notice (CPN)

1.8.22 Community Protection Notices are designed to deal with particular, on-going, 
instances of environmental ASB (i.e. litter clearance or removal of graffiti or fly 
posting). They can be used against individuals over 16, businesses or 
organisations, and can be issued by the Police, Council Officers or staff of 
Social Housing providers. 

1.8.23 The behaviour has to have a detrimental effect on the quality of life of those in 
the locality; be of a persistent or continuing nature; and be unreasonable. 
Written warnings are issued informing the perpetrator of problem behaviour, 
requesting them to stop, and the consequences of continuing. Community 
protection notice (CPN) issued including requirement to stop things, do things 
or take reasonable steps to avoid further anti-social behaviour. The notice 
allows the council to carry out works in default on behalf of a perpetrator. 

1.8.24 A breach is a criminal offence. A fixed penalty notice can be issued of up to 
£100 if appropriate. The penalty on breach is a fine of up to level 4 (for 
individuals), or £20,000 for businesses. 

Page 52



1.8.25 The CPN can deal with a wider range of behaviours for instance, it can deal 
with noise nuisance and litter on private land not open to the air. It can be 
used against a wider range of perpetrators and can include requirements to 
ensure that problems are rectified and that steps are taken to prevent the anti-
social behaviour occurring again

Solihull Community Housing has issued 3 CPN warning letters, which have been 
effective and has resolved the issue in question. These have been for a car repairs 
issue and two for communal areas litter and cleaning issues.

 
1.8.26 Public Spaces Protection Order (PSPO)

1.8.27 PSPO replaced Designated Public Places Orders, Dog Control Orders and 
Gating Orders. These orders are intended to deal with a particular nuisance or 
problem in a particular area and can apply to everyone. The orders relate to a 
restricted area and can impose a requirement to stop or carry out specified 
activity for a maximum of three years, with the possibility to extend the order 
for up to a further three years. 

1.8.28 The PSPO can be used to deal with the consumption of alcohol where it is, or 
is likely to be, detrimental to the local community’s quality of life, by imposing 
conditions on the use of that area which apply to everyone. 

1.8.29 For example, where groups regularly congregate in a town centre or a play 
park to consume alcohol, resulting in their behaviour having a detrimental 
effect on the area, agencies can make a PSPO prohibiting the consumption of 
alcohol, either at all times or during specific times when the problem is more 
likely to occur. Consideration will also need to be given to displacement of the 
issue to other geographical areas which might be dealt with by the new 
enhanced dispersal powers

1.8.30 Closure power

1.8.31 A closure notice prohibits access to the premises for a specified period up to a 
maximum of 48 hours. It prohibits access to a premise for a maximum of three 
months. A council or a police officer of at least the rank of Inspector can issue 
a closure notice if they believe that the use of a particular premise has 
resulted or is likely to result in nuisance to the public, or there is or likely to be 
such nuisance nearby, and the notice will prevent the nuisance or disorder 
from occurring. A case example for the panel is detailed below at point 11.1.

1.8.32 In Solihull we have had five Closure Orders since the commencement of the 
Act. The use of this power was very straight forward and pretty much the 
same as the process prior to the changes. The same processes were in place 
for the Solihull Community Housing officers to communicate with the Police.  

1.8.33 New absolute grounds for possession

1.8.34 Eviction powers for social landlords: Currently the court is left with discretion 
as to whether to evict a tenant under Housing Acts 1985 and 1988 when 
landlords seek possession of secure and assured tenancies because 
the tenant has been involved in ASB. The Bill seeks to amend these Acts so 
landlords can seek to evict tenants involved in ASB or criminal activity. Under 
the Bill, if it is proved the tenant has been involved in ASB, then the court 
must evict them

1.8.35 In Solihull we have served a few Notice of Possession proceedings under the 
new absolute grounds for possession, three of the tenants have handed the 
keys in and terminated the tenancy and two are awaiting court dates to go 
through the possession hearing route. Page 53



1.8.36 Other provisions:

1.8.37 Dangerous dogs: The provisions of the Dangerous Dogs Act 1991 are 
amended so that an owner or person in charge of a dog are guilty of an 
offence if the dog is dangerously out of control in any place, thereby extending 
the effect of the legislation on to private property. Providers of services will 
need to review their pet’s policy and make tenants aware that dogs can be 
seized. However, converting our Dog Control Order into a Public space places 
order is currently being considered. 

Police have executed a warrant recently under this new ground where a tenant in a 
SCH managed property could not control her dog in a public space and it attacked a 
work contractor walking from his van. The legislation has allowed us to have the dog 
removed from the property and the tenant has been dealt with accordingly under 
breach of tenancy and by the police. 

1.9 Matters for consideration 

1.9.1 The Partners reviewed the implications of the changes in legislation and have 
adjusted their processes accordingly. The panel are asked to note the current 
position. 

1.10 Report Author and contact 

Gillian Crabbe – Community Safety Manager 

1.11 Case Study – Closure Order

1.11.1 Following information from SCH’s CCTV room of a high number of people 
attending the address, people who were known as class A drug users and 
dealers, a drugs warrant was executed by West Midlands Police at the 
address. The address in one of SMBC high rise blocks is a secure tenancy.  
Police forced entry and witnessed the tenant attempting to swallow a 
substance identified as crack cocaine.  Officers used a technique that forced 
the tenant to spit out the drugs which was then secured as evidence.  A 
thorough search at the property revealed small weighing scales, plastic dealer 
bags, a machete and knives and also a bank statement showing suspicious 
activity along with receipts with expensive purchases. 

1.11.2 Consultation took place with Chief of Operations at Solihull Community 
Housing, Solihull Council legal team and the Chief Inspector at West Midlands 
Police within the hour of the warrant being executed and later that day the 
ASB Officer and Police attended the address and served a 48 hour Closure 
Notice on the address with notification of a court hearing at Magistrates Court 
48 hours later.  The closure notice is a legal document that prohibits anyone 
except the lawful tenant from entering the property, so effectively stopping all 
the visitors to the property. Breaching the notice is a criminal offence. A copy 
of the notice was also secured to the front door of the property and two points 
of entry on the landing where the flat was positioned notifying any visitors that 
they cannot proceed into the address.

1.11.3 During the period between the service of the closure noticed being served and 
the Magistrates court hearing, the ASB Officer and Police Officer who would 
be attending court to give evidence prepared witness statements around the 
details of the warrant and evidence found and breaches of tenancy.  All 
statements were sent to Council’s Solicitor before the hearing in preparation 
for the hearing. 

1.11.4 On the day of the hearing, the ASB Officer, Police Officer and the tenant gave 
evidence.  Due to the significant evidence, the Magistrates awarded a three 

Page 54



month closure order.  The tenant was advised that she and her family would 
be required to leave the property at 4.00pm that day and advised to pack 
some belongs, valuables, documentation and any medication required.  The 
tenant was handed a copy of the closure order in court and advised that SCH 
would be now issuing her with a Notice of Possession Proceedings and will be 
applying to the courts for possession under the new Absolute Grounds for 
possession.

1.11.5 At 4.00pm, the ASB Officer returned to the property with the Police to keep 
the peace and the contractor to erect Sitex security screening to secure the 
property from no further entry.  A copy of the closure notice was secured to 
the Sitex door along with contact information for the legal tenant on how to 
gain entry (for example to collect more belongings).  The closure notice was 
also secured to the entrance doors leading to the flat.  The Notice of 
Possession Proceedings was served on the tenant, who later after taking 
legal advice surrendered the property giving notice to terminate her tenancy.

Page 55



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Minutes
	5 Review of the ministry of justice transforming rehabilitation programme
	6 Safer Solihull Partnership - 2015/16 Quarter 3 Performance for the period October 2015 to December 2015
	2b  Scrutiny appendix A to performance report Solihull Scorecard Q3 2015_16

	7 Community Safety Plan report
	1b  Solihull¹s Local Police and Crime Plan 201617 version 1 for scrutiny

	8 Update on the ASB, Crime and Policing Act 2014

